### **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

**BETWEEN** 

THE CITY OF FREDERICTON

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' LOCAL UNION NO. 3864

2022 JANUARY 01 TO 2024 DECEMBER 31

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1- APPLICATION AND RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY	2
ARTICLE 3 - SENIORITY	3
ARTICLE 4- PROFESSIONAL FEES	3
ARTICLE 5 -WAGES	4
ARTICLE 6 -VACATION	
ARTICLE 7-GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	5
ARTICLE 8 -ARBITRATION	6
ARTICLE 9 - DISCIPLINE	6
ARTICLE 10 - MUTUAL INTEREST COMMITTEE	7
ARTICLE 11 - BENEFITS	8
ARTICLE 12 - PENSION	7
ARTICLE 13 - GENERAL	
ARTICLE 14-TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT	9
ARTICLE 15 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	10
SCHEDULE A	11
INDEX	

THIS AGREEMENT made this 13th day of May 2022.

BETWEEN:

THE CITY OF FREDERICTON, hereinafter called "the Employer-

AND:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES and its LOCAL 3864,

hereinafter called the "Union"

#### **PREAMBLE**

WHEREAS It is the intention and purpose of the parties of this Agreement to maintain the existing harmonious relations and settled conditions of employment between the Employer, the employees, and the Union and to improve the quality of service to the public and to promote the wellbeing and the increased productivity of its employees to the end that the parties hereto set forth certain terms and conditions of employment relating to pay, hours of work and other related terms and conditions of employment affecting employees covered by this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE. the parties agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE 1 - APPLICATION AND RECOGNITION**

- 1.01 The Employer recognizes the Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 3864 as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for its technical and professional employees in accordance with the Labour and Employment Board certification order IR-002-96.
- This Agreement applies to all employees as defined by this Agreement and where the creation of a new position comes within the scope of this Agreement, it shall be mutually determined by the Parties as to whether or not such position will be included in the bargaining unit. If agreement cannot be reached, the Employer will confirm such to the Union in writing and the Union will have ten (10) working days to refer the matter to the Labour and Employment Board.
- 1.03 The Parties to this Agreement agree that terms and conditions of employment, for employees of this bargaining unit, which are not specifically laid out in this agreement shall be in accordance with the provisions of the City of Fredericton Human Resources Policies, Procedures, Work Instructions and The Province of New Brunswick Industrial Relations Act. The Secretary of the Union shall be provided with a copy of the Human Resources Policies, Procedures, Work Instructions and will be provided with any and all amendments to such documentation.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - UNION SECURITY**

- 2.01 The Employer agrees to deduct regular monthly dues from the wages due every employee in the bargaining unit and include the amount on the annual T4 slip for income tax purposes.
- 2.02 The sums deducted pursuant to 2.01 shall be remitted to the designated official of the Union prior to the 15<sup>th</sup> day of the month following the month in which the deductions were made. The Union will keep the Employer notified of the names of its designated officials.
- 2.03 The Employer and the Union shall acquaint new employees with the fact that a collective agreement is in effect.
- An employee subject to a layoff in any classification may bump an employee in a lateral or lower position with less general seniority within the bargaining unit, provided the employee is qualified to do the work of the new position and accepts the pay rate of the new position. The employee's qualification for the position shall be determined by the employer but shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 2.05 Employees shall be recalled in order of general seniority provided they have the required qualifications to perform the work available.
- 2.06 No new employees shall be hired until those laid off have been given an opportunity of recall. Recall privileges do not apply if an employee has been laid off for a period in excess of two (2) years, or if an employee terminates their employment.
- 2.07 The Employer shall notify employees who are laid off ten (10) working days prior to the effective date of layoff. If the employee has not had the opportunity to work the ten (10) working days, then he/she shall receive payment for any such days not worked.
- 2.08 Grievances concerning layoffs and recalls shall be initiated at Step Two of the Grievance Procedure.
- 2.09 A permanent employee shall not be laid off or have a reduction in working hours as a result of the Employer contracting out the employee's work.
- 2.10 In the event that the Employer should introduce methods or machines which require new or greater skills than are possessed by employees under the present method of operation, such employees shall be given sufficient training and a reasonable opportunity to acquire the skills necessitated by the new methods of operation.

2.11 In the event that substantive changes to working hours are required, schedule changes will be made by mutual consent.

#### **ARTICLE 3 • SENIORITY**

- 3.01 <u>General Seniority-</u> shall be the length of continuous service in this bargaining unit, except those employees on strength on 1996 February 29 shall retain the seniority accrued in their previous bargaining unit.
- 3.02 General Seniority for part-time and temporary employees shall be pro-rated against their working hours from the last date of entry into the bargaining unit.
- 3.03 Notwithstanding 3.01 a part-time or temporary employee who becomes a full-time employee shall, at the time of full-time hiring, be credited only with the pro-rated seniority accumulated under Article 3.02.
- 3.04 <u>Seniority Lists</u>: Seniority lists will be forwarded to the Union annually. The information on this list will be employee name, date of hire, and seniority date.
- 3.05 Job vacancies within Local 3864 will be communicated to the union executive prior to a vacancy being posted. Job postings will be for a period of ten (10) working days.
- 3.06 The Employer shall provide on an annual basis, an updated list of all bargaining unit employees which will include the following: current mailing address, personal phone number and an email address as provided to the Employer.

#### **ARTICLE 4 • PROFESSIONAL FEES**

4.01 Where an employee is required to maintain a certification that pertains to their position, the employer shall pay for the fees associated with that certification. This shall not be interrupted by a temporary reassignment or secondment.

#### **ARTICLE 5 - WAGES**

5.01

Employees will be paid salaries in accordance with the Managerial Salary Scale (AON). Annual increases will be based on the New Brunswick Consumer Price Index - All Items Scale and calculated by averaging the annual changes by month to CPI over a twelve-month period ending in April the previous year. Increases for the following years are as follows:

2022 - .53 percent

2023 - Based on NB CPI formula as stated above

2024 - Based on NB CPI formula as stated above

#### **ARTICLE 6 - VACATION**

6.01 Each employee shall be entitled to annual vacation with pay granted in January, however, accrued throughout the year.

Years of credited service are determined, on date of hire, for vacation purposes and therefore accrued accordingly.

For the calendar year in which the employee will complete their 1st year of service, the vacation entitlement will be:

15 days, available on January 1st of that calendar year

For the calendar year in which the employee will complete their 2nd year of service, the vacation entitlement will be:

15 days, available on January 1st of that calendar year

For the calendar year in which the employee will complete their 9<sup>th</sup> year of service, their vacation entitlement will be: 20 days, available on January 1<sup>st</sup> of that calendar year

For the calendar year in which the employee will complete their 17th year of service, their vacation entitlement will be: 25 days, available on January 1st of that calendar year

For the calendar year in which the employee will complete their 25<sup>th</sup> year of service, their vacation entitlement will be:

30 days, available on January 1<sup>st</sup> of that calendar year.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

7.01 <u>Definition of a Grievance</u> - A grievance means a dispute arising between the parties concerning the interpretation, application, administration, or an alleged violation of this Agreement.

7.02 Where a grievance is alleged, the following procedure shall apply:

Step One: Within ten (10) working days after the alleged grievance has arisen, the grievance shall be presented in writing to the employee's Department Head. If a reply or a satisfactory settlement is not received within ten (10) working days from the date upon which the grievance was presented to the employee's Department Head, the grievance may proceed to Step Two.

Step Two: Within ten (10) working days from the expiration date referred to in Step One, the grievance may be presented in writing to the City Administrator. Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance, the City Administrator shall convene a meeting of the persons having knowledge of the matter that is the subject of the grievance. If a reply or satisfactory settlement of the grievance is not received within ten (10) working days of the date of the meeting, the grievance may be referred to arbitration as provided for in Article 8.

The Parties acknowledge the benefit of prompt and effective resolution of grievances and agree that grievance mediation is one method to accomplish this. It is therefore agreed that the Grievance Mediation Process may be used at any step of the Grievance Procedure after Step One.

- 7.03 If advantage of the provisions of this section is not taken within the time limit specified herein, a grievance in dispute shall be deemed to have been abandoned and shall not be reopened except by mutual consent of the parties.
- 7.04 The Employer or the Union shall have the right to file a general policy grievance which shall be filed with the President of the Union or at Step Two of the grievance procedure, as the case may be, and thereafter the aggrieved party may proceed directly to arbitration within twenty (20) working days.
- 7.05 The party filing a grievance shall state the act or omission complained of, indicate why the act or omission is viewed as being improper and state the redress or remedy requested.

CUPE LOCAL 3864 Page 7

7.06 At any hearing an employee affected may act with a representative of the Canadian Union of Public Employees, a Solicitor, or a Grievance Committee of the Union.

7.07 The parties may mutually agree to extend the time limits specified herein.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - ARBITRATION**

- Whenever a dispute arises between the parties as to the interpretation, application, administration or with respect to an alleged violation of this Agreement, and the same cannot be settled by the grievance, the dispute shall be referred to a Board of Arbitration. The procedure to be followed in establishing the Board of Arbitration shall be that set forth in Section 55 of the Industrial Relations Act.
- 8.02 Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of their respective nominees to the Arbitration Board and shall share equally in the fees and expenses of the Chairman.
- 8.03 Nothing in this Article shall prevent the reference of a grievance to a single arbitrator agreed upon by the parties.
- Where a single arbitrator is agreed upon by the parties, their fees and expenses shall be shared equally by the parties.
- 8.05 Cases arising out of any form of discipline or the loss of any remuneration, benefit, or privilege, the Board of Arbitration shall have full power to direct payment of compensation, vary the penalty, or to direct reinstatement of a benefit or privilege, or to affirm the taking away of such benefit or privilege, as the Board may determine appropriate to finally settle the issues between the parties, and may give retroactive effect to its decision.

#### **ARTICLE 9 - DISCIPLINE**

- 9.01 Disciplinary Action Disciplinary Action shall mean:
  - written reprimand or warning
  - suspension with or without pay
  - demotion and/or financial penalty
  - discharge or dismissal
- 9.02 Employees shall only be disciplined for just cause. It shall be the exclusive right of the Employer to terminate probationary employees.
- 9.03 Where the supervisor intends to discipline an employee, such disciplinary action shall be administered within twenty (20) working days from when the supervisor became aware of the incident. When an employee is

CUPE LOCAL 3864 Page 7

disciplined, the Employer shall, within three (3) working days of the disciplinary action, notify the employee in writing by registered mail or personal service, stating the reasons for the disciplinary action. The Employer shall also forward a copy of the letter to the Secretary of the Union within three (3) working days.

- 9.04 Where an employee alleges that he has been disciplined in violation of this Article, he may, within ten (10) working days of the date that he was notified in writing, invoke the grievance procedure, including arbitration, as set forth in this Agreement.
- 9.05 A grievance alleging violation of this Article shall be filed at Step Two of the grievance procedure, except in the case of a written reprimand or warning, which shall be filed at Step One.
- 9.06 An employee may review his record upon reasonable notice to the Employer.
- 9.07 A suspension without pay shall be for a specified time, not exceeding fifteen (15) working days.
- 9.08 The record of an employee shall not be used against him at any time after eighteen (18) months following a suspension or any other disciplinary action, including written reprimand or warnings.
- 9.09 Where the supervisor intends to meet with an employee for the purpose of discussing pending disciplinary action as per Article 9.01, the employee shall be advised in advance of such meeting in order that he or she may have the opportunity to invite a Union representative to attend such meeting.

#### **ARTICLE 10 - MUTUAL INTEREST COMMITTEE**

- The Union and the Employer acknowledge the mutual benefits to be derived from joint consultation and hereby approve the establishment of a Mutual Interest Committee consisting of a Director or Assistant Director, and the Union President as the Co-Chairpersons, two representatives of the Union, and two representatives of the Employer. The Human Resources Manager or designate shall be an ex-officio member of the mutual interest committee.
- 10.02 The Mutual Interest Committee shall meet at the discretion of the Co-Chairpersons, but no less than once every three months.
- Job position creations and transfers shall be a standing item on the agenda for discussion.

CUPE LOCAL 3864 Page 8

#### **ARTICLE 11 - BENEFITS**

The formula used to calculate Benefit Spending Account (BSA) for permanent full-time employees will be the same as that utilized to calculate the non-bargaining group BSA. No employee's BSA may be decreased as a result of moving to a new formula for calculating BSA, during the term of this agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - PENSION**

12.01 Employees are subject to the provisions of and are entitled to the benefits under the Chy of Fredericton Shared Risk Plan, the provisions of which shall prevail over any provisions in the Agreement in conflict therewith.

#### **ARTICLE 13 - GENERAL**

**PARKING** 

13.01 The City will provide reasonable parking, at no cost, to the employee while at work.

ON CALL

- 13.02 Call out is when an employee is required to respond to operational or emergency needs. On call are hours during which an employee is to be available to respond to operational or emergency needs in an expeditious and timely fashion. Such hours will be outside of an employees' normal workday.
  - (a) Employees may be assigned by their director or designate to be on call. Normally, on-call duty will be scheduled and assigned equitably if possible. Employees may not be restricted in their ability and must be fit to immediately respond to any calls. The oncall work period will be in excess of an employee's normal work as set under COR-OP-101 Section 4.2 of the hours of work procedure.
  - (b) An employee required to be on call will normally be assigned oncall duties on a weekly basis. Employees assigned to on-call will receive pay or straight-time in lieu for 2 hour/weekday and 8 hour/weekend day or statutory holiday for on-call responsibilities.
  - (c) Present provision for hours worked during on-call periods apply for taking time off to compensate for these hours worked.
  - (d) Time off in lieu may only be taken with mutual agreement of the parties. Any unused banked time will be paid out at year end at the employee's straight time rate.

#### 13.03 FAMILY LEAVE

An annual leave of up to (3) days, with pay, for the immediate and temporary care of a member of the employee's Immediate family may be approved by the employee's Manager. For clarity, the following examples are provided:

- Emergency medical appointments
- · Trips to hospital emergency rooms
- Sudden illness of a family member requiring the employee's care
- Last minute cancellation of childcare arrangements
- Accompany a family member to a medical appointment
- Subject to the approval of the Manager, employees may be granted leave of up to (3) days with pay in the event of being left homeless through fire, flood, or act of God.
- 13.05 DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE OR SEXUAL VIOLENCE LEAVE

The Employer shall grant an employee, Domestic Violence, Intimate Violence or Sexual Violence Leave in accordance with the provisions and requirements as provided for under the New Brunswick Employment Standards Act.

In addition to the benefits provided In the Act, employees experiencing any of these situations will be able to apply for additional days of paid leave, as per City Policy COR-OP-105. Such leave will be at the discretion of the Employer.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT**

- 14.01 Where a temporary vacancy occurs within the bargaining unit and it is known in advance to be for a period in excess of three (3) months, the bargaining unit will be notified. The Employer's permission shall be obtained in order for a member to be placed in a temporary position for which they are qualified. Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld. The vacancy shall be filled as per City Policy COR-OP-119.
- 14.02 Upon completion of any temporary assignment, the employee shall be permitted to return to the employee's former position, prior to the temporary assignment.

#### **ARTICLE 15 • DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

- This Agreement shall come into force as of 2022 January 01 and shall expire on 2024 December 31, provided however, that where notice to bargain has been given by either party in accordance with Section 33 of the Industrial Relations Act with a view to the renewal or revisions of this Agreement or the making of a new Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until.
  - (a) a renewal or revision of this Agreement or a new Agreement signed; or
  - (b) a lawful strike or lockout occurs in accordance with the provisions of the <u>Industrial Relations Act.</u>

## Schedule A – Salary Scale

Ri-Weeki	y Salaries	2022				Manager			_	1027	1115,251	1	
rear	2022	LVAL											
teer Rate	0.53%												
	ry - 26.089 Pay	<b>19</b>											
	ary and BSA R												
6 of Range		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Step 11	Step 12
80%	B/w Salary	\$ 1,801.96	\$ 1,883.04	\$ 1,967.78	\$ 2,056.33	\$ 2,148.87	\$ 2,245.57	\$ 2,359.07	\$ 2,499.37	\$ 2,636.84	\$ 2,781.86	\$ 2,948.77	5 3,125.7
	BSA	\$ 171.18	5 176.18	5 181.41	\$ 186.88	\$ 192.59	\$ 198.55	\$ 206.17	5 214.21	S 222.69	\$ 231.64	\$ 241.94	\$ 252.8
100%	B/w Salary	\$ 2,252.45	\$ 2,353.81	\$ 2,459.73	\$ 2,570.41	\$ 2,686.08	\$ 2,806.96	5 2,961.34	\$ 3,124.21	\$ 3,296.04	\$ 3,477.33	S 3,685.97	\$ 3,907.1
	BSA	\$ 198.98	\$ 205.23	\$ 211.77	\$ 218.59	\$ 225.73	5 233.19	\$ 242.71	\$ 252.76	5 263.37	\$ 274.55	\$ 287.42	5 301.0
		Step 13	Step 14	Step 15	Step 16	Step 17	Step 18	Step 19	Step 20	Step 21	Step 22	Step 23	Step 24
	B/w Salary	\$ 3,328.87	\$ 3,545.25	\$ 3,775.69	5 4,021.11	\$ 4,302.58	\$ 4,603.77	\$ 4,949.05	\$ 5,320.23	\$ 5,719.24	S 6,148.19	\$ 6,609.30	\$ 7,105.6
80%		\$ 265.39	\$ 278.74	\$ 292.96	\$ 308.10	\$ 325.47	\$ 344.05	\$ 365.36	\$ 388.26	5 412.88	\$ 439.34	\$ 467.79	\$ 498.
80%			C 4 455 FC	£ 4710 Ct	\$ 5,026.38	\$ 5,378.23	\$ 5,754.71	\$ 6,186.31	\$ 6,650.28		\$ 7,685.23	\$ 8,261.63	
100%	B/w Salary	\$ 4,161.09	S 4,431_56	\$ 4,719.61	\$ 5,020.38	3 3,310.23	3 3,734,71	3 0,100'21	3 0,030.28	3 7,149.03	3 7,003.23	3 0,201.03	\$ 8,881.2

2023 Salary Scale based on NB CPI

2024 Salary Scale based on NB CPI

City of Fredericton

&

CUPE Local 3864

#### Supplemental Unemployment Benefits

Supplemental Unemployment Benefits will be available to each employee for a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks per child event during Maternity Leave or Child Care Leave (parental/adoption) at the top up rate of twenty percent (20%) of their gross weekly earnings for the period of such leave as governed by the Federal and Provincial Legislation. The employee must provide the employer with proof of receipt of Employment Insurance Benefits. This will be subject to the provision this supplemental payment shall not increase the employee's net take home pay (inclusive of the El benefits) above 75% of his/her gross weekly earnings.

At the expiration of this letter of agreement, any employees receiving the benefit shall continue to receive their entitlement per its conditions.

This letter of agreement shall expire December 31, 2024.

Jason Madore,

President CUPE Local 3864

Steven Hart

City of Fredericton

&

**CUPE Local 3864** 

#### **Safety Footwear Allowance**

Employees who are required by Management to wear or purchase safety footwear in carrying out their job duties, will receive an allowance to a maximum of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) upon receipt of purchase of boots. Such safety footwear must meet safety standards as determined by Management. Allowances will be provided once per calendar year.

The Employer will incorporate the Safety Footwear Allowance wording into the appropriate Corporate Safety Procedure by the end of December 31, 2024.

This Letter of Agreement expires on December 31, 2024

Jason Madore

**CUPE Local 3864** 

City of Fredericton

&

CUPE Local 3864

#### **Benefit Spending Allowance**

The Employer intends to undertake a review of Employee Benefits and the Benefit Spending Allowance (BSA).

In anticipation of the review, the Employer will provide education sessions about Benefits and the BSA to all City employees.

The Employer agrees that the Union, along with all other bargaining units and individual employees, will be consulted as the review is scoped and undertaken.

Any permanent full-time or part time union members, at the date of signing, who select family benefits and currently do not have sufficient funds in their BSA to purchase Family Dental B and Family Health B Plans. The employer shall provide a top up for any shortfall to those employees to ensure adequate funding.

If amendments are made to benefits or the BSA prior to the end of the collective agreement, and if the changes are beneficial to members of the union, the changes will be implemented by way of amendment to this letter at the earliest practicable time.

This Letter of Agreement expires on December 31, 2024

Jason Madore

**CUPE Local 3864** 

Steven Hart

**City of Fredericton** 

&

#### **CUPE Local 3864**

Call-out specifically limited to CUPE Local 3864 positions at the Fredericton Police Department.

Section 13.02 (a) is amended to permit the Employer to pay out accumulated call out time for the following positions:

- Crime Analyst
- Mental Health Coordinator
- Victim Witness Coordinator
- Youth Services Coordinator
- Public Information Officer

This Letter of Agreement expires on December 31, 2024

Jason Madore

**CUPE Local 3864** 

Steven Hart

City of Fredericton

&

**CUPE Local 3864** 

#### **Four Day Work Week**

The parties would like to jointly explore the idea of a four-day work week.

The parties will undertake the following activities in fourth quarter 2022 which will include the union executive in management discussions.

#### Jurisdictional scan:

- Consult with other municipalities who implemented pilot projects related to four-day work week
- Agree to discuss Moncton pilot project in joint meeting of management & union executive
- Compile findings & outcomes from the other municipalities

This Letter of Agreement expires on December 31, 2024

Jason Madore

CUPE Local 3864

Steven Hart

Vitness

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the City of Fredericton has hereunto affixed its corporate seal and caused these presents to be executed by its duly authorized officers and The Canadian Union of Public Employees. Local 3864, caused these presents to be executed by its duly authorized officers.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED: THE CITY OF FREDERICTON in the presence of:

Kate Rogers, Mayor

Jennifer Lawson, City Clerk

THE CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 3864

Jason Madore, President

Elaine Schifke, Treasurer

## PROVINCE OF NEW BRUNSWICK COUNTY OF YORK

#### AFFIDAVIT OF CORPORATE EXECUTION

- I, Jennifer Lawson, of the City of Fredericton, in the County of York and Province of New Brunswick, City Clerk, MAKE OATH AND SAY:
- 1. I am the City Clerk of the City of Fredericton, one of the parties named in the foregoing instrument and as such I have personal knowledge of the matters herein deposed.
- The seal affixed to the foregoing instrument purporting to be the seal of the City of Fredericton is the Corporate Seal of the City of Fredericton and was so affixed by order of the City Council.
- 3. The signature "Kate Rogers" subscribed to the foregoing instrument is the signature of Kate Rogers, the Mayor of the City of Fredericton and the signature "Jennifer Lawson" subscribed thereto is my signature.
- 4. The Mayor and City Clerk are the officers of the City of Fredericton duly authorized to execute the foregoing instrument.

SWORN TO BEFORE ME at the City of Fredericton, in the County Of York and Province of New Brunswick, this 13<sup>th</sup> Day of May A.D. 2022

A Commissioner of Oaths

Being A Solicitor

Jepnifer Lawson, City Clerk

# INDEX (by Page Number)

	p	
1 5	PARKING PENSION	8 8
	PROFESSIONAL FEES	3
8	s	
	SENIORITY LISTS	3 3
6	SCHEDULE A	11
	U UNION SECURITY	2
8 5	V	
	VACATION	4
7	W	
	WAGES	4
8		
	5 8 6 8 5	PARKING PENSION PROFESSIONAL FEES  S SENIORITY SENIORITY LISTS SCHEDULE A U UNION SECURITY  V VACATION  W WAGES